

MNB WORKING PAPER

2003/7

Gábor Pula:

CAPITAL STOCK ESTIMATION IN HUNGARY: A BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF METHODOLOGY AND RESULTS

August, 2003

Online ISSN: 1585 5600

ISSN 14195 178

ISBN 9639383295

Economist, Conjunctural Assessment and Projections Division, Economics Department, Magyar Nemzeti Bank, <u>pulag@mnb.hu</u>

The purpose of publishing the Working Paper series is to stimulate comments and suggestions to the work prepared within the Magyar Nemzeti Bank. Citations should refer to a Magyar Nemzeti Bank Working Paper.

The views expressed are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the official view of the Bank.

Magyar Nemzeti Bank H-1850 Budapest Szabadság tér 8-9. <u>http://www.mnb.hu</u>

Abstract

The capital stock in Hungary was estimated using two approaches: one based on the historical time series of investments and the other based on direct survey data. The two approaches resulted in significantly different levels of net capital stock estimations: the level estimated by cumulating investments is approximately 50 percent of the level calculated from the survey data. Although the historical investment series is considered to be less reliable, it was found that the investments-based estimation provides more acceptable results by international standards.

During the estimation, several issues emerged that strongly relate to the transition process, and therefore have not been discussed in the "classical" literature on the capital stock. We found no reliable information on how to estimate the one-off depreciation of non-competitive capital assets that were activated before the 1990s and also found it difficult to give assumptions for the changes in service life before and after the transition period. However, the sensitivity analysis showed that the alternative assumptions lead to only slight differences in the estimated accumulation path of the capital stock, and consequently strengthened the hypothesis that our results were quite robust. We also made a crosscheck using the growth accounting framework, and found that the estimated capital stock generated a TFP dynamics that is in accordance with international experience.

Contents

Abstract		
1.	Introduction	3
2.	Applications of the PIM	4
3.	Literature	5
4.	Data	6
5.	Assumptions	7
	Assumption on average service lives	7
	Assumption on the shape of survival functions and depreciation patterns	8
	Assumptions on the one-off drop in asset efficiency	9
6.	Results	10
7.	Sensitivity analysis	11
8.	Growth accounting	12
9.	Conclusion	15
References		
Appendix 1.		
	Using survey data versus historical series of investments	17
Appendix 2.		19
	Using official investment data versus historical series of investments	19
Appendix 3.		21
	The net capital stock for Hungary, 1980-2001	21

1. Introduction

Measurement of the capital stock is problematic even in developed countries. The basic dilemma of how to capture the changes in asset value is still quite formidable. Assets lose their value by ageing, i.e. they lose efficiency and yield fewer productive services over time. But the value of an asset also declines due to obsolescence, as new and more developed equipment appears in the market, which is more suitable for production. These changes are hardly monitored by firms and even less efficiently measured at the national level. The difficulties related to capital stock measurement have been a focal point of international statistics for years, and the OECD recently published a manual (OECD 2001) to give practical guidance for estimation.

In addition to the problems above, estimating capital stock in a transition economy is even more difficult for two reasons: namely the heterogeneity of the stock and the lack of reliable statistics. During market restructuring a substantial portion of old capacities becomes obsolete in these economies, while on the other hand high-tech capital accumulates rapidly. Not much is known about the scale and characteristics of the two types of capital, the average service life and depreciation pattern of the different types of assets. In addition to the turbulent economic environment, the transition of the statistical system itself is a serious cause of estimation bias, and in some countries even the data on recent investments is considered unreliable.

In the case of Hungary the problems resulting from lack of data are relatively less severe. As part of a wider project the Hungarian Central Statistical Office (HCSO) published preliminary data on the end-1999 gross capital stock of the corporate sector last year. The estimation is based on a survey conducted according to international standards with the assistance of Eurostat. The HSCO also compiled an unofficial series of historical investments in order to provide a crosscheck of its survey-based estimates. The formation of these two new data sources was one of the main incentives behind the current analysis.

Motivation also came from the need for supply side modelling in Hungary. The European Commission urges all acceding countries to calculate potential output by a production function approach, and although it allows for a certain degree of flexibility in adopting EC methodology, capital stock is a vital element in such estimation.

On this note, we calculate capital stock figures using the perpetual inventory method (PIM). The structure of the paper is as follows: in Section 2 we give a brief description of the PIM and the different approaches associated with the methodology. In Section 3 we sum up the literature on the PIM with a special focus on capital estimation in transitional countries and Hungary. Sections 4 and 5 present the data and the main assumptions used during the analysis. As we were uncomfortable with unreliable input data and the lack of information on capital heterogeneity, we examined the robustness of our estimates and applied several crosschecks and a sensitivity analysis. In Sections 6 and 7 we examine how our results parallel with the international experiences, and also discuss the sensitivity of the estimates to alternative assumptions. Finally, the capital stock series were used to calculate TFP growth rates using a production function with changing factor shares. The results of this exercise are compared to the dynamics seen in other countries. In Section 9 we summarize our main findings that are valid in the context of transitional countries.

2. Applications of the PIM

The most commonly used method for calculating the stock of capital is the perpetual inventory method (PIM). Based on the PIM, the gross and net capital stock of a given asset is estimated as follows:

Gross capital stock:
$$K_{t}^{B} = K_{t-1}^{B} + I_{t}^{B} - S_{t} = \sum_{j=0}^{L \max} g(j) * I_{t-j}^{B}$$
 (1)

$$K_{t}^{N} = K_{t-1}^{N} + I_{t}^{B} - D_{t} = \sum_{j=0}^{L \max} g(j) * I_{t-j}^{B} * d(j)$$
(2)

Net capital stock:

where K_t^B reflects the gross capital stock value at time t

 I_t^B gross capital formation at time t

 S_t discard at time t

 D_t discard and depreciation at time t

L max asset service lifetime

g(j) survival function

d(j) depreciation function.

According to the formulas above, there are two ways of applying the PIM.

If an initial capital stock is available, net capital stock for subsequent periods can be calculated by considering the net effect of additional gross fixed investments and the discard / depreciation of existing capital (the first right-hand-side-formula in equation (2) above). The determination of the depreciation – discard term (D_t) requires assumptions for the average service life of a given asset, and for the retirement and depreciation pattern it follows. In the rest of this paper we will refer to this type of PIM application as the *initial capital approach*.

Although the initial capital approach is extensively used in the practice of developed countries, this application of the PIM is seriously constrained in transitional countries, due to lack of reliable data on the initial capital stock. Initial capital estimates in transitional countries mostly rely on information from corporate accounting, which is considered inadequate for capital stock calculations for three reasons. First, accounting data usually differs from real economic conditions as it is strongly affected by tax regulations. Secondly, capital in the books is evaluated at historical prices, which means that the data has no uniform price base, as it is simply an aggregation of assets at different prices. And finally in transition economies the transformation of the corporate sector and the privatisation of state companies led to such a turbulent flow of assets that is hardly monitored by book values. Consequently, using initial capital estimates that are based on accounting data results in a significant estimation bias in transitional countries.

If initial capital stock data is lacking, the PIM provides an alternative solution as well. As capital stock equals the sum of all past investments that are still in use (the second right-hand-side-formula in equations (1) and (2) above), we may use the PIM as a tool for building a so-called vintage model (*vintage model approach*). The vintage model reckons the investments from previous years as the different vintages of the current capital stock. To estimate a gross initial capital stock value an assumption on the average service life of the given asset is needed in order to determine the starting year of the aggregation. Besides that, to calculate net values of capital, assumptions on the retirement and depreciation patterns are also required.

As the average service lives of buildings exceed 50 years one needs to have a historical series of investments to create a vintage model. Fifty-year investment series with a uniform methodological framework are hardly found even in the statistics of developed countries. In case of the transitional countries the data are less reliable, with a structural break at the beginning of the 1990s, and with values possibly distorted by artificially set prices prior to

transition. However, the estimation bias resulting from data unreliability is cushioned by the fact that the effect of past investments on current net capital stock is shrinking due to the ageing and obsolescence of assets over time.

3. Literature

There is an extensive body of literature on the subject of capital stock estimation in developed countries, but only very few attempts have been published on calculating estimates for transitional countries.

In developed countries official capital stock statistics are provided by the central statistical offices. The method used is similar to that described previously: they conduct wealth surveys with different time-spans and use the PIM to calculate the capital stocks in the interim period. A detailed description of the OECD countries' practice is given in OECD (1992).

On the other hand, recent efforts to analyse the sources of growth across countries has given impetus to a new method of capital stock estimation, the standardised estimation method. The standardised estimation method was introduced by Maddison (1993), who claimed that official estimates were inadequate for comparative analysis due to the high variance in service life assumptions.¹ He made gross capital estimations for six developed countries by using the vintage model approach and relying on historical investment series. The novelty of Maddison's standardisation procedure is to assume standardised asset lives for all the countries under review, i.e. 39 years for non-residential structures and 14 years for machinery and equipment.

Besides giving comparable estimates the standardisation method has further advantages compared to the official figures. It permits one to push back the time series further than official measures, and above all it enables one to experiment with and test the sensitivity of the results to alternative assumptions. In view of these advantages the practice of standardising capital stock measures has spread rapidly in recent years (Hofman (1992), O'Mahony (1992), Timmer and van Ark (2000), D'Adda and Scorcu (2002)).

For developing countries, Nehru and Dhareswar (1993) set up a comparable capital stock database. For lack of historical investment series they used alternative techniques to estimate the initial stock of capital, finally finding the Harberger-approach to be the most effective tool.² However, this approach is based on the assumption that the capital-output ratio is constant, a statement which is empirically disputable in the long term. Nehru and Dhareswar calculated net values using a geometric pattern of decay, which has the advantage of giving both survival and depreciation weights (g(j) and d(j)) at the same time.

The literature on capital stock estimation in transitional countries is quite limited due to the lack of data. The official estimates of statistical offices are mainly based on corporate accounts, but the details of the calculations are unavailable to the public in most countries.

Comparable calculations for the CEECs were made by the IMF. Doyle, Kuijs, and Jiang (2001) followed the initial capital stock approach, using the 1985 capital stock of Hungary as a benchmark. For the Slovak Republic and Slovenia they assumed a similar

using the assumption that the capital-output ratio is constant the above equation can be rewritten as:

 $K_{t-1} = I_t / (g + \delta)$

The initial capital stock is derived from the above equation with data on growth, depreciation and investments.

¹ Maddison shows that the average life assumption for non-residential buildings is 57 years in Germany, 39 years in the USA, whereas in the UK it is 66 years. For machinery and equipment these numbers are 14 years for Germany and the US, whereas it is 25 years for the UK (Maddison (1992), p. 138).

² The approach applied by Harberger (1978) is built on the accumulation equation:

 $⁽K_t - K_{t-1}) / K_{t-1} = -\delta + (I_t / K_{t-1})$

capital-output ratio as for Hungary, for Poland the ratio was set 10 per cent lower, whereas for the Czech Republic it was assumed to be 10 percent higher. To derive the subsequent capital stock series in each country, the officially reported fixed investment data from the national accounts were added to the base period capital stock, and an allowance was made for depreciation. The assumed rate of depreciation was 8 percent in all cases except Poland, where the rate was chosen to be 5.5 percent due to the relatively large share of buildings in the stock. The one-off drop in obsolete capital was estimated to be around 35 percent in all countries except for the Czech Republic, where the 1998 official capital data allowed for only a 20 percent loss in capital. The calculated net capital-output ratios fall in the range of 2 and 3 for 1999. Although the above assumptions are considered consistent, the chosen benchmark of the Hungarian capital stock is inadequate data and leads to estimation bias.

The problem with the pre-1990 Hungarian capital figures is similar to those of other transitional countries: the data are based on corporate accounting and do not employ a common price base. The most comprehensive and prudential estimation on the capital stock of Hungary by Darvas and Simon (2000) found an alternative technique to tackle the absence of reliable capital statistics. They used official investment series starting in 1980 and estimated the initial level of the capital stock in 1980-89 based on a TFP growth assumption in a Cobb-Douglas production function during this period, and followed the PIM for subsequent years. The calculations were based on the assumptions of a linear depreciation pattern, an average depreciation rate around 7 percent and a 21 percent one-time loss in capital. They found the non-residential capital-output ratio to be around 1.7-1.8 for most of the 1980-1998 period which they analysed.

During the recent calculation of capital stock in Hungary we intended to use a method that was free of assumptions regarding any particular shape of the production function. The major impulse behind the calculations was the compilation of two new time series, i.e. the end-1999 gross capital stock of the corporate sector based on a survey and a historical series of investments. The two types of data source made both the initial capital and the vintage model approach attainable in Hungary. However, during the analysis we found that the survey data seem to overestimate the capital stock. A brief description of the estimates based on the survey data, and arguments for using the historical investment series is given in Appendix 1. For the reasons above, in this paper we estimate the capital stock using the vintage model approach and data of the historical investment series. The procedure we follow is quite similar to that proposed by Maddison. The calculations are made at a two-digit disaggregation level and the average service lives are basically taken from the OECD practice. For estimating net values we used a geometric pattern of decay. The one-off drop in capital was estimated from a Cobb-Douglas production function with the assumption of a zero TFP growth for the period 1990-92. The data, the assumptions and the results are presented in detail below.

4. Data

According to OECD methodology capital stock includes goods that are durable, tangible, fixed and reproducible. This definition excludes immaterial assets, inventories, and land from capital stock. In addition, as we intended to estimate non-residential capital stock, residential buildings are also excluded from the calculations.

Our *vintage model approach* uses the long historical investment series provided unofficially by the HCSO, at constant prices in a breakdown by categories (non-residential building and machinery) and by industries. The input of the data is the official series of investments put into operation at current prices, based on official data back to 1959. For the previous years the series is built on information from the 1968 wealth survey. To transform the current values to 1999 constant prices the investment price indices were used. There has been no official data on investment prices by industries since 1990, so the HCSO applied its own estimates. The

poor quality of the investment price data is one of the main shortcomings of the historical investment series.³

Using the unofficial investment data instead of the official data has the advantage of estimating the capital at a more disaggregated level, with more refined service life and depreciation assumptions. However, after determination of an average service life for the whole economy, estimation with the official data gives broadly similar results to those made with the disaggregated unofficial data. The pros and cons of using the official versus the unofficial series and the changes in results are presented in Appendix 2.

5. Assumptions

The PIM requires assumptions on service lives (L_{max}) , and on the shape of survival (g(j)) and depreciation functions (d(j)). In addition to this, we also made an assumption on the one-off drop in capital in the early 1990s, as a result of the loss of productive potential during the market restructuring. A brief summary of our assumptions is given in Table 1.

	Period	Year of	Category	Baseline
Average service	Before 1991	activation	Buildings	45
life (years)			Machin and other	18
	After 1991		Buildings	45
			Machin. and other	18
Depreciation rate	Before 1991		Buildings	2,0
(70)			Machin. and other	9,2
	After 1991	Pre-1991	Buildings	3,4
			Machin. and other	18,3
		Pro-1991	Buildings	2,0
			Machin. and other	9,2
One-off drop (%)				25

Table 1. Baseline assumptions

Assumption on average service lives

One of the most important elements in the PIM estimation is the choice of service lives. Service lives cannot be observed directly and, above all, are supposed to change over time. In the OECD countries' practice basically there are three sources of service life estimations: tax-lives, company accounts and questionnaires. In Hungary, the HCSO collected service life data in its survey, but considered the data extremely unreliable and did not publish it officially. Consequently, as a baseline we used the average of the service lives of 12 OECD countries, which is available in a breakdown by branches (OECD 1992).

The service lives from the HCSO survey tend to be higher than the OECD averages with the exception of newly established industries of machinery, and commercial and financial services (see Chart 1 and Chart 2). Albeit unreliable, the data is considered to be indicative: service lives in Hungary are supposed to be higher than the OECD average, as a significant part of the obsolete capital has still not been discarded. Although we insisted on our baseline for its simplicity, we checked for the sensitivity of the results on alternative assumptions. We

³ A detailed description of the historical time series of investments is given by Imre (2002)

made calculations using service lives that were 10 years longer than the OECD average; the results are presented in Section 7.





The x-axis contains the 2-digit-NACE code of industries



Chart 2: Average service life assumptions for buildings by industries

The x-axis contains the 2-digit-NACE code of industries

Assumption on the shape of survival functions and depreciation patterns

OECD countries use several kinds of mortality and survival functions. For mortality functions the simultaneous exit and different types of bell shaped functions (Winfrey, Weibull and the lognormal function) are the most frequent.

The depreciation functions in most OECD countries follow a linear or a geometric pattern. The geometric pattern is proposed by the Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA) in the US, and

based on prices of used assets.(Fraumeni (1997)) The formulation of the BEA's depreciation function is as follows:

$$d(i) = \left(1 - \frac{DBR}{L_{avg}}\right)^i,$$

where L_{avg} denotes the average service life, *DBR* stands for the so called Declining Balance Rate, and *i* represents time. The main advantage of this pattern is that it takes into account both the mortality and depreciation effects, i.e. it uses weights, where both g(j) and d(j) are considered. To avoid the difficulty of using different depreciation and mortality functions we chose this pattern in our estimation. According to the BEA's recommendation we applied a DBR of 1.65 for machinery and equipment and 0.91 for buildings, respectively.

In the case of depreciation functions we also experimented with different patterns, namely with linear depreciation, the depreciation suggested by Ross and the Vogels depreciation function.⁴ With these depreciation functions the simultaneous exit concept of mortality has been augmented. The alternative patterns do not provide significantly different results, as will be shown later.

Assumptions on the one-off drop in asset efficiency

As a result of market restructuring a substantial loss in the productive potential of the Hungarian economy occurred in the early 1990s. Capital equipment used to produce the lower-quality products traded within the CMEA had to be discarded, as it was inadequate to produce the higher-grade products demanded by developed market economies.

The scale of this one-off drop in capital efficiency and discard is difficult to measure, and as it is a characteristic of economies in transition there is no extensive discussion of it in the "classical" capital literature. Generally, the most common way to estimate the one-off drop in capital is using a growth accounting framework with assumption on the production function and the TFP residual. The IMF estimated a 35 percent drop in capital efficiency for Hungary in 1991, calculated as a sum of a 20 percent loss due to the collapse of CMEA trade and an additional 15 percent due to the so-called "disorganization" effect (IMF (1999)). The former was estimated in a growth accounting framework, while the latter was a less evident expert judgement.

In our estimate we focused purely on those effects that are quantifiable. We used the growth accounting framework for the period 1990-1992. Under the assumption of a Cobb-Douglas production function with a 0.6 labour income share, and zero TFP growth, the 15 percent drop in output corresponds to a 25 percent decline in the capital stock. Although TFP growth could well be negative in that period, we kept the non-negative growth assumption as an extreme case of capital deterioration. To give consideration to the IMF estimates the alternative assumption of a 10 percent higher one-off drop has also been examined. The results are presented in Section 7.

depreciation function is given by $d(i) = 1 - \frac{1.2i}{L_{avg}} + \frac{0.4i^2}{L_{avg}^2}$ where *Lavg* denotes the average service life, and *i*

⁴ The depreciation pattern suggested by Ross has the form of $d(i) = 1 - \frac{i}{2L_{avg}} - \frac{i^2}{2L_{avg}^2}$, while the Vogels

represents time. The former pattern results in slightly progressive depreciation and is especially recommended for administration buildings. The Vogels depreciation is an empirically-determined pattern, which results in a slightly degressive depreciation. With this pattern the asset is not written off totally in accordance with the empiric that the value of buildings does not drop below 30% of the original construction cost. The exact shape of these functions was taken from Böhm, et al. (1998).

6. Results

The final net capital stock estimates for 1980-2001 are presented in Table 2. The ratio of the calculated net capital stock to output is 1.5, which is slightly lower than the previous estimates of 1.7 and 2 by Darvas and Simon (2000) and Doyle et al (2001), respectively.

To check on the validity of our results we made an international comparison. The comparison of international capital stock data cannot be made on the basis of official data, due to dissimilar service life and depreciation assumptions. According to the literature there are two main databases that contain standardised capital stock data for both developed and developing countries: the Penn World Tables (PWT) (Summers and Heston (1991)) and the World Bank dataset (Nehru and Dhareswar (1993)).

The net capital-output ratios estimated for Hungary using the *vintage model* approach is somewhere in the range of international data (see Chart 3). However, the capital-output ratios of the two international datasets are quite different, and move in the wide interval of 0.8-3.9. The difficulty of comparing our results with data from these databases stems from the fact that these statistics are calculated by methodologies different from ours, or are based on a different definition of capital stock.⁵

Although it focuses on developed countries, the Maddison standardisation procedure is quite similar to ours and uses the same definition of non-residential capital. We assumed that the difference between the standardised service lives applied by Maddison and those used by us is not significant enough to prevent a valid comparison. Comparing our results with the ratios given by Maddison, we see our estimates to be lower than ratios of developed countries. According to the vintage model approach, the capital-output ratio for Hungary is about one-half of the US ratio, and two-thirds of the UK ratio (see Chart 4). If we accept the theoretical requirement that transitional countries should have smaller productive capital / output ratios than developed countries due to a high share of obsolete capital, then the estimated 1.5 per cent capital / output ratio for Hungary seems reasonable by international standards.

Chart 3. Comparison of our estimate with capital / output ratios from the PWT and the World Bank dataset (1980-1990 average)



⁵ PWT uses investment output ratios to estimate the initial stock of capital, while the World Bank database capital stock includes residential buildings, which differs from our definition. The inclusion of residential buildings in our estimates would increase the calculated Hungarian capital ratio by 0.3-0.5.

Chart 4. Comparison of our estimate with capital / output ratios calculated by the Maddison standardisation method



Source of international data: Maddison (1992)

7. Sensitivity analysis

As mentioned in Section 5, we examined the sensitivity of our results to all the major assumptions of the analysis. Generally, we carried out a sensitivity test using alternative assumptions for average service lives, for depreciation pattern, and the one-off drop in capital efficiency.

According to our results, the sensitivity of the capital stock estimations can be considered low (Table 2). For example, assumption of a 10-year-longer service life would result in only a 0.1 point higher capital-output ratio. The use of alternative depreciation patterns would decrease the ratio by 0.1-0.14, and a 10 percent higher one-off drop in capital efficiency would cause less than a 0.1 point change in the ratio. All in all, if one assumes a 10-year-longer service life, a linear depreciation pattern and a 36 percent one-off loss in efficiency one ends up with a 0.12 point lower capital-output ratio of 1.37.

	Baseline	Alternative	Sensitivity (difference from baseline ratio)
Average service life (years)	OECD average	Longer	
		service lives	
Buildings	45	55	On average:
Machinery and other:	18	28	+0.10
Retirement and depreciation	Geometric	Linear	-0.14
functions	depreciation		
		Progressive (Ross)	+0.0
		Degressive (Vogels)	-0.11
One-off drop (%)	26	36	-0.08

Table 2. Sensitivity analysis

8. Growth accounting

The capital stock estimates presented in the previous sections can be used in a growth accounting exercise. As a final check on the validity of our estimates we examined whether our results from the growth accounting framework for the "Solow residual" would prove to be acceptable by international standards. During the analysis we assumed a CES production function with a neutral technological change. The formula we used was the following:⁶

$$\dot{a}_t = \dot{q}_t - \frac{w_t}{v_t} * \dot{l}_t - \frac{r_t}{v_t} * \dot{k}_t ,$$

where dots stand for changes in logs, w/y is the share of labour costs in income, and r/y is the profit share. The time-varying factor shares were calculated using National Accounts Data.

⁶ The formula is proposed by Solow (1957). It is derivable from a production function, using time derivatives and under the assumption of competitive factor markets, where marginal products equal factor prices.



Chart 5. TFP growth in Hungary (1990-2001) and in the world (1970-90)

Source of international data: Nehru-Dhareswar (1994)

The "Solow residual" gained from the equation above showed 2.2 percent annual growth in the period 1990-2000. That rate is in accordance with international experience (Chart 5). If we compare our results with the TFP dynamics of different regions we find that Hungarian TFP growth in the 1990s was around the rate of the NICs. The TFP in Hungary grew faster than in the Western Countries, and close to the rate experienced by the Southern European countries during the 1970s (Charts 6 - 8). These results conform to our assumptions about the supposed sources of domestic growth.

A specific feature of economic transition in Hungary is the very strong TFP growth in the period of 1991-95. This is a result of a negative labour contribution due to the sluggish labour market restructuring, which led to a continuous decrease in employment until 1998. With a modest deepening of capital, the significant difference between the growth rates of output and employment is explained by the "residual", implying a productivity gain as high as 7 per cent until 1994. In recent years the contributions of the various factors to overall growth has become somewhat more balanced, and the rate of TFP growth decreased to around 2 percent due to a pick up in the contribution of labour force. The detailed analysis of sources of growth however needs a further investigation and may be a topic of a future research.



Chart 6. TFP growth dynamics in Hungary compared to Western countries

Source of international data: Nehru-Dhareswar (1994)





Source of international data: Nehru-Dhareswar (1994)

Chart 8. TFP growth dynamics in Hungary compared to South European countries



Source of international data: Nehru-Dhareswar (1994)

9. Conclusion

Estimating capital stock in a transition economy is a difficult task for several reasons. First, there is a lack of reliable data. Using the PIM, one either needs data on the initial capital stock, or a historical investment series. In most countries neither of those datasets are available, and even if they are available they are considered to be highly unreliable. In the determination of current capital stock levels, however, historical investments play a marginal and shrinking role. For example, the ratio of investments that were activated before 1990 in the 1999 net capital stock is 40 percent, whereas the ratio of those activated before 1980 is only 15 percent.

Another difficulty is the fact that there is a lack of information on service lives and depreciation patterns as well. Although service lives of different assets are supposed to be longer than in the OECD countries as a result of surviving obsolete capacities, the exact difference is not known. Furthermore, not much is known about the discarded capital either. However, here it should be emphasized that according to our analysis capital stock estimates show only little sensitivity to alternative assumptions regarding service lives, depreciation patterns and the scale of the one-off reduction of capital. Consequently, in our view the shortcomings of the unreliable data and the lack of information on the heterogeneity of capital may be balanced if the "transitional" characteristics of the data are kept in mind during the analysis.

References

Böhm B, Gleis A., Wagner, M., Ziegler, D. (1998) "Disaggregated Capital Stock Estimation for Austria – Methods, Concepts and Results", *manuscript* 1998.

Darvas, Zs. – Simon, A. (2000) "Capital stock and economic development in Hungary", *Economics of Transition* 8(1).

D'Adda C., Scorcu, A.E. (2002) "On the stability of the output-capital ratio", *manuscript* 2002.

Doyle P, Kuijs L., Jiang G. (2001) "Real Convergence to EU Income Levels: Central Europe from 1990 to the long term", *IMF Working Paper* WP/01/146.

Fraumeni, B. M (1997) "The Measurement of Depreciation in the US National Income and Product Accounts", *Survey of Current Business*, July 1997.

Harberger, A. (1978) "Perspectives on Capital and Technology in Less Developed Countries" in *Contemporary Economic Analysis*, London Croom Helm.

Hofman, A. (1992) "Capital Accumulation in Latin America: A Six Country Comparison for 1950-89", *Review of Income and Health*, December 1992.

Imre, J. (2002) "Beruházási idősor összeállítása az 1968-as állományadatok felhasználásával", *manuscript* (available only in Hungarian).

IMF (1999), "Hungary Selected Issues", SM/99/28.

KSH (2002) "A vállalati szektor eszközeinek állománya. 2000 január 1." *Időszaki tájékoztató*, KSH 2002. (available only in Hungarian).

Maddison, A.(1992) "Standardised Estimates of Fixed Capital Stock: a Six Country Comparison", in *Explaining the Economic Performance of Nations*. *Essays in Time and Space*, Edward Elgar Ltd.

OECD (1992) "Methods Used by OECD Countries to Measure Stocks of Fixed Capital", OECD 1992.

OECD (2001) "Measuring Capital – OECD Manual: Measurement of Capital Stocks, Consumption of Fixed Capital and Capital Services", OECD 2001.

O'Mahony, M. (1992) "Productivity Levels in British and German Manufacturing", *National Institute Economic Review*, February 1992.

Nehru, V. and A. Dhareswar (1993) "A New Database on Physical Capital Stock: Sources, Methodology and results", *Revista de Analisis Economico*, vol. 8. No.

Nehru, V. and A. Dhareswar (1994) "New Estimates of Total Factor Productivity Growth for Developing and Industrial Countries" *World Bank* WPS 1313.

Solow, R. M. (1957) "Technical Change and the Aggregate Production Function", *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 39(3).

Summers, R. and A. Heston (1991), "The Penn World Table (Mark 5): an Expanded Set of International Comparisons, 1950-1988", *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 106.

Timmer, M. and van Ark B. (2000) "Capital Formation and Productivity Growth in South Korea and Taiwan", *manuscript* Groningen Growth and Development Centre, May 2000.

Appendix 1.

Using survey data versus historical series of investments

As the HCSO provides data on the end 1999 gross capital stock of the corporate sector, the initial capital approach can also be applied in Hungary. The statistics are based on a wealth-survey (the first overall survey since 1968), which was conducted according to international standards as a part of the HCSO's broader capital stock project. The data is provided in a breakdown by categories (non-residential building and machinery) and by industries (KSH (2002)).

In our analysis we also made calculations with the survey data using the *initial capital approach* and found a serious discrepancy between the survey data and the historical investments series. The level of the survey-based capital stock turned out to be so high that even with extreme service lives of 120 years for buildings and 70 years for machinery the sum of investments was lower than the capital stock. This discrepancy indicates that either the investment series, or the survey data are unreliable. We estimated the capital stock using both approaches and evaluated our results according to their interpretability in an international comparison.

The deviation between the net capital-output ratios of the two different approaches is striking. The capital stock based on the *vintage model approach* (using historical investment series) is approximately one-half of the estimate arrived at the *initial capital approach*. According to the literature, capital stock estimates from wealth surveys have a tendency to exceed those based on historical investment data; the difference, however, in our case seems to be too high by international standards. For example, in the case of Korea, Timmer and van Ark (2000) found that their investments-based estimation was 75 per cent of the official survey-based capital stock value and in the case of Taiwan the difference was even smaller.

The international data does not support the initial capital approach.⁷ Comparison with the ratios for developed countries show that the initial capital in 1999 is too high by international standards, i.e. it exceeds the ratio in the UK by 1 point, and the ratio of the US by 0.5. In a word, we presume that the recent HCSO survey tends to overestimate the stock of corporate capital; for this reason we made our calculations using the historical investment series.

⁷ To accomplish the international comparison we had to invert the corporate capital to total non-residential capital, i.e. we had to estimate the initial stock of the governmental sector. For this purpose we used the ratio of government investments to private investments as a proxy. Over a five-year-period this ratio is steadily around 20 percent.



Net capital / output ratios in an international comparison

Appendix 2.

Using official investment data versus historical series of investments

In our analysis we used an unofficial historical investments series of the HSCO. However, there is also an investment series in Hungary that is official, and as such is more easily available and more transparent. The choice between the two data sources is not clear cut, and we give a brief argument supporting our choice in the following. The pros and cons of the data sources may be grouped by the aspects of covering, homogeneity and disaggregation level of the data (see table below).

	Official HCSO investments	Unofficial historical investments series
Covering	Includes - the category of other investments (cost of planning and engineering etc.) (+) - residential investments (-)	 Does not include the category of other investments (-) residential investments (+)
Homogeneity	Several changes in methodology (-)	Considered homogeneous from a methodological point of view (+)
Level of aggregation	No industrial disaggregation (-)	Data at two-digit disaggregation level (+)

The problem of using the unofficial historical series stems from the fact that it does not include the category of other investments, which amounts to 10 percent of total investments. This component of the series has to be estimated. On the other hand, the elimination of residential investments is a great advantage of the series, as the housing stock should be excluded from the estimation of productive capital. For Hungary, where data on housing is unreliable, the extraction procedure would cause significant difficulties. The two components mentioned above result in a 25 percent difference in covering.



Official and unofficial investments series (at 1998 prices)

The historical time series has two main advantages. First, it is considered methodologically more homogeneous than the official series, as it is built on the statistics of investments put into operation. Second, it is available at a two-digit disaggregation level, and that allows a calculation with different service life assumptions in each industry. However, we also made our calculations on the basis of the official investment series (with the exclusion of residential investments) using the average service lives given by the disaggregated unofficial data. The difference between the two estimations is not striking: the official investment series results in a 0.2 point higher estimation of the net capital-output ratio than the unofficial series.

Net capital / output ratios on the basis of the official and the unofficial investment series



Appendix 3.

The net capital stock for Hungary, 1980-2001

The net capital stock for Hungary, 1980-2001

in billion HUF, 1999 prices
12 666
13 319
13 945
14 609
15 218
15 580
16 107
16 735
17 216
17 725
18 088
13 396
13 602
13 754
14 148
14 523
14 856
15 382
16 127
16 930
17 588
18 325

MNB Füzetek / MNB Working Papers

1995/1

SIMON András: Aggregált kereslet és kínálat, termelés és külkereskedelem a magyar gazdaságban 1990-1994 Aggregate Demand and Supply, Production and Foreign Trade in the Hungarian Economy, 1990-1994 (available only in Hungarian)

1995/2

NEMÉNYI Judit: A Magyar Nemzeti Bank devizaadósságán felhalmozódó árfolyamveszteség kérdései Issues of Foreign Exchange Losses of the National Bank of Hungary (available only in Hungarian)

1995/3

DR. KUN János: Seignorage és az államadóság terhei Seigniorage and the Burdens of Government Debt (available only in Hungarian)

1996/1

SIMON András: Az infláció tényezői 1990-1995-ben Factors of Inflation, 1990-1995 (available only in Hungarian)

1996/2

NEMÉNYI Judit: A tőkebeáramlás, a makrogazdasági egyensúly és az eladósodási folyamat összefüggései a Magyar Nemzeti Bank eredményének alakulásával The Influence of Capital Flows, Macroeconomic Balance and Indebtedness on the Profits of the National Bank of Hungary (available only in Hungarian)

1996/3

SIMON András: Sterilizáció, kamatpolitika az államháztartás és a fizetési mérleg Sterilization, Interest Rate Policy, the Central Budget and the Balance of Payments (available only in Hungarian)

1996/4

DARVAS Zsolt: Kamatkülönbség és árfolyam-várakozások Interest Rate Differentials and Exchange Rate Expectations (available only in Hungarian)

1996/5

VINCZE János – ZSOLDOS István: A fogyasztói árak struktúrája, szintje és alakulása Magyarországon 1991-1996ban; Ökonometriai vizsgálat a részletes fogyasztói árindex alapján The Structure, Level and Development of Consumer Prices in Hungary, 1991-1996 – An Econometric Analysis Based on the Detailed Consumer Price Index (available only in Hungarian)

1996/6

CSERMELY Ágnes: A vállalkozások banki finanszírozása Magyarországon 1991-1994 Bank Financing of Enterprises in Hungary, 1991-1994 (available only in Hungarian)

1996/7

DR. BALASSA Ákos: A vállalkozói szektor hosszú távú finanszírozásának helyzete és fejlődési irányai *The Development of Long-term Financing of the Enterprise Sector* (available only in Hungarian)

1997/1

CSERMELY Ágnes: Az inflációs célkitűzés rendszere The Inflation Targeting Framework (available only in Hungarian)

1997/2

VINCZE János: A stabilizáció hatása az árakra, és az árak és a termelés (értékesítés) közötti összefüggésekre The Effects of Stabilization on Prices and on Relations Between Prices and Production (Sales) (available only in Hungarian)

1997/3

BARABÁS Gyula – HAMECZ István: Tőkebeáramlás, sterilizáció és pénzmennyiség *Capital Inflow, Sterilization and the Quantity of Money*

1997/4

Zsolbos István: A lakosság megtakarítási és portfolió döntései Magyarországon 1980-1996 Savings and Portfolio Decisions of Hungarian Households, 1980-1996 (available only in Hungarian)

ÁRVAI Zsófia: A sterilizáció és tőkebeáramlás ökonometriai elemzése An Econometric Analysis of Capital Inflows and Sterilization (available only in Hungarian)

1997/6

ZSOLDOS István: A lakosság Divisia-pénz tartási viselkedése Magyarországon Characteristics of Household Divisia Money in Hungary (available only in Hungarian)

1998/1

ÁRVAI Zsófia – VINCZE János: Valuták sebezhetősége: Pénzügyi válságok a '90-es években *Vulnerability of Foreign Currency: Financial Crises in the 1990s* (available only in Hungarian)

1998/2

CSAJBÓK Attila: Zéró-kupon hozamgörbe becslés jegybanki szemszögből Zero-coupon Yield Curve Estimation from a Central Bank Perspective

1998/3

Kovács Mihály András - SIMON András: A reálárfolyam összetevői Components of the Real Exchange Rate in Hungary

1998/4

P.Kiss Gábor: Az államháztartás szerepe Magyarországon The Role of General Government in Hungary

1998/5

BARABÁS Gyula – HAMECZ István – NEMÉNYI Judit: A költségvetés finanszírozási rendszerének átalakítása és az eladósodás megfékezése; Magyarország tapasztalatai a piacgazdaság átmeneti időszakában *Fiscal Consolidation, Public Debt Containment and Disinflation; Hungary's Experience in Transition*

1998/6

JAKAB M. Zoltán – SZAPÁRY György: A csúszó leértékelés tapasztalatai Magyarországon *Hungary's Experience of the Crawling Peg System* (available only in Hungarian)

1998/7

TÓTH István János – VINCZE János: Magyar vállalatok árképzési gyakorlata *Pricing Behaviour of Hungarian Firms* (available only in Hungarian)

1998/8

Kovács Mihály András: Mit mutatnak? Különféle reálárfolyam-mutatók áttekintése és a magyar gazdaság ár- és költség-versenyképességének értékelése

The Information Content of Real Exchange Rate Indicators (available only in Hungarian)

1998/9

DARVAS Zsolt: Moderált inflációk csökkentése; Összehasonlító vizsgálat a nyolcvanas-kilencvenes évek dezinflációit kísérő folyamatokról

Moderate Inflations: a Comparative Study (available only in Hungarian)

1998/10

ÁRVAI Zsófia: A piaci és kereskedelmi banki kamatok közötti transzmisszió 1992 és 1998 között The Interest Rate Transmission Mechanism between Market and Commercial Bank Rates

1998/11

P. Kiss Gábor: A költségvetés tervezése és a fiskális átláthatóság aktuális problémái *Topical Issues of Fiscal Transparency and Budgeting* (available only in Hungarian)

1998/12

JAKAB M. Zoltán: A valutakosár megválasztásának szempontjai Magyarországon Deriving an Optimal Currency Basket for Hungary (available only in Hungarian)

1999/1

CSERMELY Ágnes – VINCZE János: Leverage and foreign ownership in Hungary *Tőkeáttétel és külföldi tulajdon* (csak angol nyelven)

1999/2

Tóth Áron: Kísérlet a hatékonyság empirikus elemzésére a magyar bankrendszerben An Empirical Analysis of Efficiency in the Hungarian Banking System (available only in Hungarian)

DARVAS Zsolt – SIMON András: A növekedés makrogazdasági feltételei; Gazdaságpolitikai alternatívák *Capital Stock and Economic Development in Hungary*

1999/4

LIELI Róbert: Idősormodelleken alapuló inflációs előrejelzések; Egyváltozós módszerek Inflation Forecasting Based on Series Models. Single-Variable Methods (available only in Hungarian)

1999/5

FERENCZI Barnabás: A hazai munkaerőpiaci folyamatok Jegybanki szemszögből – Stilizált tények Labour Market Developments in Hungary from a Central Bank Perspective – Stylized Facts

1999/6

JAKAB M. Zoltán – Kovács Mihály András: A reálárfolyam-ingadozások főbb meghatározói Magyarországon Determinants of Real-Exchange Rate Fluctuations in Hungary

1999/7

CSAJBÓK Attila: Information in T-bill Auction Bid Distributions Az aukciós kincstárjegyhozamok információs tartalma (csak angol nyelven)

1999/8

BENCZÚR Péter: A magyar nyugdíjrendszerben rejlő implicit államadósság-állomány változásának becslése Changes in the Implicit Debt Burden of the Hungarian Social Security System

1999/9

Vígh-Mikle Szabolcs – Zsáмвокi Balázs: A bankrendszer mérlegének denominációs összetétele 1991-1998 között

Denomination Structure of the Balance Sheet of the Hungarian Banking Sector, 1991-1998 (available only in Hungarian)

1999/10

DARVAS Zsolt – SZAPÁRY György: A nemzetközi pénzügyi válságok tovaterjedése különböző árfolyamrendszerekben

Financial Contagion under Different Exchange Rate Regimes

1999/11

OSZLAY András: Elméletek és tények a külföldi működőtőke-befektetésekről Theories and Facts about Foreign Direct Investment in Hungary (available only in Hungarian)

2000/1

JAKAB M. Zoltán – Kovács Mihály András – OszLAY András: Hová tart a külkereskedelmi integráció? Becslések három kelet-közép-európai ország egyensúlyi külkereskedelmére How Far has Trade Integration Advanced? An Analysis of Actual and Potential Trade by Three Central and Eastern European Countries

2000/2

VALKOVSZKY Sándor – VINCZE János: Estimates of and Problems with Core Inflation in Hungary *A maginfláció becslése és problémái* (csak angol nyelven)

2000/3

VALKOVSZKY Sándor: A magyar lakáspiac helyzete Situation of the Hungarian Housing Market (available only in Hungarian)

2000/4

JAKAB M. Zoltán – Kovács Mihály András – LŐRINCZ Szabolcs: Az export előrejelzése ökonometriai módszerekkel Forecasting Hungarian Export Volume

2000/5

FERENCZI Barnabás – VALKOVSZKY Sándor – VINCZE János: Mire jó a fogyasztói-ár statisztika? What are Consumer Price Statistics Good for?

2000/6

ÁRVAI Zsófia – VINCZE János: Financial Crises in Transition Countries: Models and Facts *Pénzügyi válságok átmeneti gazdaságokban: modellek és tények* (csak angol nyelven)

György SZAPÁRY: Maastricht and the Choice of Exchange Rate Regime in Transition Countries during the Run-Up to EMU

Maastricht és az árfolyamrendszer megválasztása az átmeneti gazdaságokban az EMU csatlakozást megelőzően (csak angol nyelven)

2000/8

ÁRVAI Zsófia – MENCZEL Péter: A magyar háztartások megtakarításai 1995 és 2000 között Savings of Hungarian Households, 1995-2000

2000/9

SIMON András – DARVAS Zsolt: A potenciális kibocsátás becslése a gazdaság nyitottságának felhasználásával Potential Output and Foreign Trade in Small Open Economies

2001/1

SIMON András – VÁRPALOTAI Viktor: Eladósodás, kockázat és óvatosság Optimal Indebtedness of a Small Open Economy with Precautionary Behavior

2001/2

Tóth István János - Árvai Zsófia: Likviditási korlát és fogyasztói türelmetlenség Liquidity constraints and consumer impatience

2001/3

Sándor VALKOVSZKY – János Vincze: On Price Level Stability, Real Interest Rates and Core Inflation Árszintstabilitás, reálkamat és maginfláció (csak angol nyeleven)

2001/4

János VINCZE: Financial Stability, Monetary Policy and Integration: Policy Choices for Transition Economies *Pénzügyi stabilitás, monetáris politika, integráció: az átmeneti gazdaságok előtt álló választási lehetőségek* (csak angol nyelven)

2001/5

György SZAPÁRY: Banking Sector Reform in Hungary: Lessons Learned, Current Trends and Prospects *A bankrendszer reformja Magyarországon: tanulságok, aktuális folyamatok és kilátások* (csak angol nyelven)

2002/1

Tóth István János: Vállalati és lakossági konjunktúra felmérések Magyarországon Cyclical Surveys of the Hungarian Corporate and Household Sectors (available only in Hungarian)

2002/2

BENCZÚR Péter: A szuverén kötvényekben rejlő kockázatok azonosítása *Identifying Sovereign Bond Risks* (available only in Hungarian)

2002/3

JAKAB M. Zoltán – Kovács Mihály András: Magyarország a NIGEM modellben *Hungary in the NIGEM model*

2002/4

BENCZÚR Péter – Simon András – Várpalotai Viktor: Dezinflációs számítások kisméretű makromodellel Disinflation Simulations with a Small Model of an Open Economy (available only in Hungarian)

2002/5

On the estimated size of the Balassa-Samuelson effect in five Central and Eastern European countries Edited by Mihály András Kovács (avaible only in English)

2002/6

GYOMAI György - Varsányi Zoltán Máté: Az MNB átlal használt hozamgörbe-becslő eljárás felülvizsgálata A Comparison of Yield-curve Fitting Methods for Monetary Policy Purposes in Hungary (available only in Hungarian)

2003/1

Péter BENCZÚR: The behavior of the nominal exchange rate at the beginning of disinflations (available only in English)

2003/2

VÁRPALOTAI Viktor: Numerikus módszer gazdasági adatok visszabecslésére Numerical Method for Estimating GDP Data for Hungary (available only in Hungarian)

VÁRPALOTAI Viktor: Dezinflációs számítások dezaggregált kibocsátási résekre alapzó makromodellel *Disinflation Simulations with a Disaggregated Output Gap Based Model* (available only in Hungarian)

2003/4

VÁRPALOTAI Viktor: Dezaggregált költségbegyűrűzés-alapú ökonometriai infláció-előrejelző modell Disaggregated Cost Pass-Through Based Econometric Inflation-Forecasting Model for Hungary

2003/5

Zoltán M. JAKAB-Mihály András Kovács: *Explaining the Exchange Rate Pass-Through in Hungary: Simulations with the NIGEM Model* (available only in English)

2003/6

Gábor VADAS: *Modelling households' savings and dwellings investment – a portfolio choice approach* (available only in English)

2003/7

Gábor PULA: Capital Stock estimation in Hungary: A brief description of methodology and results (avaiable ony in English)